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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
SAN ANTONIO DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff
V. )
) USAO# 2007R04739
)
ROSARIO DIVINS, ) [Violations:
Defendant ) 18 U.S.C. § 401(3)- Criminal Contempt;
) 18 U.S.C § 1341- Mail Fraud]
THE GRAND JURY CHARGES:
Introduction

During the time period covered by this Indictment:
1. The Defendant,
ROSARIO DIVINS

is a 54 year old resident of San Antonio, Texas. 'fhe Defendant represents to individuals in financial
distress that she can aid émd assist them in preventing the foreclosure of their respective home. The
Defendant charges the person that uses her services a fee to be paid in cash, check or property.

2. The Defendant is not an attorney nor licensed to practice law in the State of Texas
or before the Courts of the United States. |

3. The Defendant has engaged in the practice of “foreciosure prevention” for many
years.

4, On occasion, persons who have enlisted the services of the Defendant have eventually
filed for bankruptcy in t_he United States Bankruptcy Court for the Western District of Texas.

S. The Defendant’s practice of collecting fees from those in financial distress and those

individuals filing for bankruptcy (debtors) has brought her behavior within the purview of the United
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States Bankruptcy Court for the Western District of Texas.

6. Chief Bankruptcy Judge Ronald B. King and Bankruptcy Judge Leif M. Clark preside
over cases in the San Antonio Division of the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Western
District of Texas. Both judges have sanctioned the activities of the Defendant and ordered her to
stop her activities.

7. On or about October 26, 1994, in a bankruptcy case styled In re Lara, (Cause no. 94-
51228), Chief Judge King entered an Order that among other things, ordered, adjudged and decreed
the Defendant:

(A) not to engage in the unauthorized practice of law;

(B) not to couns'el people on bankruptcy practices; and

(C) not to charge or collect referral fees from attorneys or share fees with attorneys.
This order is hereinafter referred to as The Lara Order.

8. Onorabout January 4, 2000, in a bankruptcy case sfyled Inre Gutierrez, (Cause no.
99;53034—LMC-1 3), Judge Clark entered an Order that permanently enjoined the Defendant from
engaging in the following specific activities:

(A)  Offering or providing any bankruptcy petition preparation service or activity
on behalf of anyone at any time and in any fashion;

(B)  Making any representation of any kind, express or implied, to any individual
or to the public that the Defendant or persons associated with her can or
would assist or help or ever try to assist or help any individual or persons to
“stop foreclosure”; :

(C)  Making any representation, express or implied, that “mortgage brokering
services” can or may be able to assist any individual or persons to “stop

foreclosure™;

(D)  Making any representation, express or implied, to any individual or persons
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‘that the Defendant or persons associated with her can assist with bankruptcy
filings, actually help debtors file bankruptcy cases, or advise individuals or
persons with respect to a bankruptcy case.

This order is hereinafter referred to as The First Gutierrez Order.

9. On or about June 8§, 2000, again in the bankruptcy case styled In re Gutierrez, (Cause
no. 99-53034-LMC-13), Judge Clark entered an Agreed Order that among other things permanently
enjoined the Defendant from the activities previously set out in The First Gutierrez Order and The
Second Gutierrez Order and provided that a failure to abide by the conditions may resultin a finding
of contempt of court. The Defendant signed this order immediately below the phrase. AGREED
AND APPROVED AS TO FORM AND SUBSTANCE. This order is hereinafter referred to as the
Agreed Order.

10.  In2003, in a bankruptcy case styled In re Guerrero, (Cause no. 03-52541-LMC-13),
Judge Clark held two hearings and heard testimony on an Order to Appear and Show Cause
concerning the possibility of sanctioning the Defendant for violating previous orders issued by the
Court by making representations, either express or implied, to the Debtors that she could stop
foreclosure on their behalf. On September 24, 2003, Judge Clark ordered that:

(A)  the Defendant pay the U.S. Bankruptcy Trustee $1,800. This was the sum
of the $1,500 which the Guerreros paid to the Defendant for payment to the

Debtor’s mortgage company, and $300 for amount paid by the Guerreros to
the Defendant for her services.

(B)  the Defendant not to use the “flyer” admitted into evidence or any flyer which
contains express or implied representations that she can assist people to “stop

foreclosure” or which used any language that violates the terms of the Agreed
Order.

This order is hereinafter referred to as The Guerrero Order.
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The Scheme

11.  From on or about January 4, 2000 and continuing until the present date, the
Defendant, devised and intended to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and
property by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises. The scheme and
artifice to defraud and to obtain money and property by means of false and fraudulent pretenses,
representations and promises, so devised and so intended, was, in substance, as follows:

12.  The object of the fraudulent scheme was for the Defendant to fraudulently acquire
money, funds and other property from individuals.

13.  The purpose of the fraudulent scheme was for the Defendant to unjustly enrich herself
at the expense of those in financial distress.

14. 1t was part of the fraudulent scheme that the Defendant preyed upon people in
desperate financial situations and those facing foreclosure of their homes or property with fraudulent
offers of assistance.

15. ’It was part of the fraudulent scheme that the Defendant used the United States Postal
Service or private or commercial interstate carrier to deliver mail matter, specifically a flyer
advertising her services.

16. It was part of the fraudulent scheme that the “flyer” misrepresented material facts,
including but not limited to:

(A)  Anassertion by the Defendant that “my business is helping others, and I can
surely help you!” when in truth and in fact the Defendant did not help people.

(B)  Anassertion that the Defendant could provide the following types of financial
assistance to those facing foreclosure:
1. Refinance of the current mortgage,
2. Home loans with a 10 year note to repay,
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©

(D)

(E)

3. Payoffs for IRS liens, property taxes, home improvement loans,
equity loans and assumptions,
4, Offer to “take over note payments, if you want to walk away, and

save your credit...”

a guarantee that the Defendant’s work would “get it off the auction court
sale,”

the Defendant represented that she would “walk threw [sic] the channels,
have faith, trust, and believe in a miracles [sic],”

that the recipient had only two weeks to enlist the Defendant’s assistance or
their property would be foreclosed upon, so call now before its too late

17. It was part of the scheme that the Defendant demanded payment in cash.

18. It was part of the scheme that the sign outside the Defendant’s office advertising her

services included a reference to “stop foreclosures.”

19. It was part of the scheme for the Defendant to omit and fail to advise those seeking

financial help of material facts, including but not limited to:

(A)

(B)

©

(B)

that the Defendant had been sanctioned by a United States Bankruptcy Judge

on at least three prior occasions, namely The First Gutierrez Order, The
Agreed Order and The Guerrero Order.

that the Defendant had been specifically ordered not to make any
representation of any kind, express or implied, to any individual or to the
public that the Defendant or persons associated with her can or would assist
or help or ever try to assist or help any individual or persons to “stop
foreclosure;”

that the Defendant had been specifically ordered not to make any
representation, express or implied, that “mortgage brokering services” can or
may be able to assist any individual or persons to “stop foreclosure;”

that the Defendant had been specifically ordered not to use the “flyer”
described above or any flyer which contains express or implied
representations that she can assist people to “stop foreclosure.”
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20. It was part of the scheme that the Defendant would represent to people seeking her
help that she would use the cash received to make payments on the outstanding mortgage balance,
pay property taxes and/or insurance fees.

21, Infurtherance of the scheme, the Defendant defrauded the following persons, among

others: G.D, J.Cand M.C., MMM. and ET and R.T.

R.R. and J.A.

22, Inearly 2005,R.R. and J.A. faced foreclosure of their home by their mortgage lender.

23. . Inorabout March or April, 2005, R.R. and J.A. received a letter from the Defendant
in the mail offering to assist them with saving their home from foreclosure. R.R. and J.A. met with
the Defendant who promised to save their home. R.R. and J.A. gave the Defendant approximately
$5,350 and transferred title and ownership of their 1994 Mazda pick-up truck to the Defendant. The
Defendant advised R.R. and J.A. that she would use $2,500 to pay mortgage arrears and use $2,600
for current payments. The Defendant applied none of the money to the mortgage debt.

24.  Onor about September 2, 2005, R.R. and J.A. file for bankruptcy. Inre R.R. and

J.4., (Cause no. 05-55166-LMC).

1.B.

25.  In or about late 2007, T.B. was facing foreclosure of an investment home he had
purchased.
26.  After receiving a flyer in the mail from the Defendant advertising her ability to "stop

foreclosure," T.B. met with the Defendant and paid her $6,500 to stop foreclosure of his investment

property.
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27.  The Defendant did not stop foreclosure and the property was foreclosed upon by the

lender.

LLVand C.V

28.  In or about late 2007 or early 2008, | the home of L.V. and C.V.was posted for
foreclosure to take place on February 5, 2008.

29.  Afterreceiving a flyer in the mail from the Defendant advertising her ability to "stop
foreclosure," 1.V. and C.V. met with the Defendant and gave her $2,800 cash to stop the foreclosure
sale of their residence.

30. Th¢ Defendant did not stop the foreclosure sale and the property was sold to a third
party by the lender.

31.  After the foreclosure sale occurred, L.V. and C.V. paid the Defendant an additionall
$4,000 in cash to get their home back.

32.  L.V.and C.V.never moved back in their home and written demands for return of the

$6,800 have been ignored by the Defendant.

L.M.

33, In or about March of 2008, L.M. was behind in her mortgage payments and the
mortgage company was threatening foreclosure. At or near this time, L.M. received a flyer in the
mail from the Defendant advertising her ability to “stop foreclosure.”

34.  L.M. met with the Defendant. The Defendant advised L.M. that she could stop
foreclosure-proceedings on her home if L.M. paid the Defendant $2,800. L.M. gave the Defendant

$2,800 in cash.
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35.  Within two weeks, the Defendant advised L.M. that she had stopped the foreclosure
but needed $750 to sénd a “package” to the mortgage company. L.M. paid the Defendant an
additional $750 in cash.

36. Still later, the Defendant advised L.M. that she needed an additional $1,500 for the
renegotiation of the mortgage loan. L.M. paid the Defendant an additional $1,500 in cash.

37.  Still later, the Defendant advised L.M. that she needed an additional $1,500 to pay
unpaid taxes and insurance. L.M. was only paid the Defendant an additional $500 in cash.

38.  The Defendant never made a payment to the mortgage company related to L.M.’s
mortgage. |

39.  Atthe repeated request of L.M., the Defendant did return $2,000 to L.M.
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COUNT ONE
[18 U.S.C. § 401(3)]
Criminal Contempt
The Grand Jury re-alleges and incorporates the Introduction and Scheme (numbered
paragrapﬁs 1-39) of this Indictment as if fully set forth herein.
In or about March or April of 2005 in the Western District of Texas, the Defendant,
ROSARIO DIVINS,
did intentionally disobey, resist and violate a lawful writ, process, order, rule decree and command
of the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Western District of Texas, San Antonio Division,

namely The First Gutierrez Order, The Agreed Order and The Guerrero Order in conjunction with

the Defendant’s interaction with RR. and J.A..

In violation of Title 18, United States Code section 401(3).
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COUNT TWO
[18 U.S.C. § 401(3)]
Criminal Contempt
The Grand J ury re-alleges and incorporates the Introduction and Scheme (numbered
paragraphs 1-39) of this Indictment as if fully set forth herein.
On or about October of 2007, in the Western District of Texas, the Defendant,
ROSARIO DIVINS,
did intentionally disobey, resist and violate a lawful writ, process, order, rule decree and command
of the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Western District of Texas, San Antonio Division,

namely The First Gutierrez Order, The Agreed Order and The Guerrero Order in conjunction with

the Defendant’s interaction with T.B..

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code section 401(3).

10
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COUNT THREE
[18 U.S.C. § 401(3)]
Criminal Contempt
The Grand Jury re-alleges and incbrporates the Introduction and Scheme (numbered
paragraphs 1-39) of this Indictment as if fully set forth herein.
On or about January of 2008, in the Western District of Texas, the Defendant,
ROSARIO DIVINS,
did intentionally disobey, resist and violate a lawful writ, pro;:ess, order, rule decree and command
of the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Westem District of Texas, San Antonio Division,

namely The First Gutierrez Order, The Agreed Order and The Guerrero Order in conjunction with

the Defendant’s interaction with LV. and C.V..

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code section 401(3).

11
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COUNT FOUR
[18 U.S.C. § 401(3)]
Criminal Contempt
The Grand Jury re-alleges and incorporates the Introduction and Scheme (numbered
paragraphs 1-39) of this Indictment as if fully set forth herein.
On or about March of 2008, in the Western District of Texas, the Defendant,
ROSARIO DIVINS,
did intentionally disobey, resist and violate a lawful writ, process, order, rule decree and command
of the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Western District of Texas, San Antonio Division,

namely The First Gutierrez Order, The Agreed Order and The Guerrero Order in conjunction with

the Defendant’s interaction with L.M..

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code section 401(3).

12
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COUNT FIVE
[18 US.C. § 1341]
Mail Fraud

The Grand Jury re-alleges and incorporates the Introduction and Scheme (numbered
paragraphs 1-39) of this Indictment as if fully set forth herein.

In or about March or April of 2005, in the Western District of Texas, the Defendant,

ROSARIO DIVINS,

knowingly devised and intended to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and
property by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises and for the
purpose of executing such scheme and artifice to defraud and attempting to do so, the Defendant did
cause the United States Postal Service or private or commercial interstate carrier to deliver mail

matter, specifically a flyer advertising stop foreclosure services to the residence of R.R.and J.A.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code section 1341.

13-
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COUNT SIX
[18 U.S.C. § 1341]
Mail Fraud

The Grand Jury re-alleges and incorporates the Introduction and Scheme (numbered
paragraphs 1-39) of this Indictment as if fully set forth herein.

In or about October of 2007, in the Western District of Texas, the Defendant,

ROSARIO DIVINS,

knowingly devised and intended to devise a séheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and
property by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises and for the
purpose of executing such scheme and artifice to defraud and attempting to do so, the Defendant did

cause the United States Postal Service or private or commercial interstate carrier to deliver mail

matter, specifically a flyer advertising stop foreclosure services to the residence of T.B.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code section 1341.

14
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COUNT SEVEN
[18 U.S.C. § 1341}
Mail Fraud

The Grand Jury re-alleges and incorporates the Introduction aﬁd Scheme (numbered
paragraphs 1-39) of this Indictment as if fully set forth herein.

In or about January of 2008, in the Western District of Texas, the Defendant,

ROSARIO DIVINS,

knowingly devised and intended to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and
property by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and -promises and for the
purpose of executing such scheme and artifice to defraud and attempting to do so, the Defendant did
cause the United States Postal Service or private or commercial interstate carrier to deliver mail

matter, specifically a flyer advertising stop foreclosure services to the residence of V. and C.V.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code section 1341.

15
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COUNT EIGHT
[18 US.C. § 1341]
Mail Fraud

The Grand Jury re-alleges and incorporates the Introduction and Scheme (numbered
paragraphs 1-39) of this Indictment as if fully set forth herein.

In or about January of 2008, in the Western District of Texas, the Defendant,

ROSARIO DIVINS,

knowingly devised and intended to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and
property by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises and for thev
purpose of executing such scheme and artifice to defraud and attempting to do so, the Defendant did
cause the United States Postal Service or private or commercial interstate carrier to deliver mail

matter, specifically a flyer advertising stop foreclosure services to the residence of L.M.

In violation éf Title 18, United States Code section 1341.

A TRUE BILL:

RAND JURY

JOHNNY SUTTON
" United States Attorney

, /} f
MARK LANE
Assistant United States Attorney
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